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The Welsh Harp Reservoir 

For many people, the Welsh Harp is a 

feature they see while passing along 

the North Circular Road; others know 

it as a place for recreation, either 

walking in pleasant countryside along 

its banks or the enjoyment of being on 

the water in a canoe or sailing boat. If 

you have ever wondered how long it 

has been in this shallow valley 

between Neasden and Kingsbury, or 

why it is here, this article will tell you 

something of its fascinating history. 

The Welsh Harp, towards West Hendon. 

[Photograph by Philip Grant, 2011] 

The Brent Reservoir, or “Welsh Harp”, is not a reservoir for drinking water, but a relic of the 

Canal Age. Soon after the Paddington Branch of the Grand Junction Canal opened in 1801, 

the River Brent was identified as a source of extra water for it. In 1810/11, a narrow “Feeder” 

was built to channel water more than three miles, from a bend in the river north of Kingsbury 

Bridge to join the canal at Lower Place. By the 1830’s the Regent’s Canal Company, which 

now owned the branch, proposed a dam across the River Brent to provide a 61 acre 

reservoir, which would ensure a more reliable 

supply for their “Feeder”. The dam and 

associated works were built in 1834/35 by 

William Hoof of Hammersmith for £2,747- 6s.  

The fact that the reservoir existed by 1835 is 

confirmed by a memorial in a nearby church to 

the first deaths by drowning in it (see the article 

“St Andrew’s Old Church, Kingsbury”). 

Kingsbury: St Andrew’s Church and reservoir, 1850. 

[Source: Brent Archives – Naimaster collection]    

Heavy rain in January 1841 caused a partial collapse of dam, and flooding down the Brent 

valley which left several people dead and considerable damage in the Brentford area. When 

the dam was rebuilt by 1843, an attendant’s cottage was added at the Kingsbury end.  For 

the next decade the reservoir appears to have had a quiet time, being used by anglers and 

visited by naturalists keen to see (and shoot) 

the rich variety of visiting birdlife. One of these 

was James Edmund Harting, who lived at St 

Mary’s Lodge, close to Kingsbury Green. 

Much of the field work for his 1866 book,  

“The Birds of Middlesex”, was carried out on 

or near this Kingsbury reservoir. 

The frontispiece from “The Birds of Middlesex”. 

[Source: Brent Archives – Wembley History Soc. Colln.] 
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An increase in traffic on the Regent’s Canal meant that by 1850 more water was needed to 

replace the loss from its locks. An Act of Parliament was passed allowing the company to 

acquire more land, and increase the height 

of the dam. This expanded the reservoir’s 

area to 400 acres by 1854, the largest it 

has been in its history. The 1873 map 

(aside) shows the Brent Reservoir when it 

extended that far (the water would have 

covered much of the present day Brent 

Cross Shopping Centre, and Sainsbury’s at 

West Hendon on the northern arm). 

Map reproduced from a hand-coloured copy  

of the 1873 edition Ordnance Survey 6 inch  

to one mile map of Middlesex, sheet XI. 

[Source: Barnet Local Studies and Archives Centre]  

The work to expand the reservoir included 

raising a new embankment to protect the Old Welsh Harp tavern, on the west side of the 

Edgware Road, just north of the Brent Bridge, from flooding. In 1858 the lease of this  

pub was taken over by William Perkins Warner, who had grown up at Blackbird Farm in 

Kingsbury. He set about creating a large 

pleasure gardens behind the pub, obtaining the 

rights to use the reservoir for recreational 

purposes, and for the next 30 years the “Welsh 

Harp” became a very popular leisure 

destination. Part of Warner’s legacy is the name 

by which the reservoir is generally known today. 

The Old Welsh Harp public house, around 1890. 

[Source: Brent Archives] 

Warner used the reservoir’s potential to the full, with 

fishing and boat hire, and competitions for swimming in 

the summer and ice skating in the colder winters. A 

variety of sports and pastimes were also available, from 

bowls to cricket, with horse racing events very popular 

(until banned in 1879 for promoting vice). A Welsh Harp 

station was opened on the new Midland Railway in 

1870, at Warner’s request, and special trains on bank 

holidays brought thousands of people from the crowded 

areas of the City and Camden to “fairs” in the Welsh 

Harp’s grounds. Warner even built a music hall and 

restaurant beside the pub as all year round attractions. 

A handbill promoting Warner’s Old Welsh Harp, c.1860’s, 

including the words of a music hall song about it! 

[Courtesy of Geoffrey Hewlett] 

The opening of Hendon station on the Midland Railway 

saw the development of housing and shops in West 
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Hendon during late Victorian times. The 

reservoir was a popular place for country walks  

and bicycle trips by then, not solely for the Old 

Welsh Harp’s attractions, and some of the 

residents made a little extra money by serving  

tea to visitors in their living rooms at weekends.  

A postcard showing one of the views that attracted 

visitors to the reservoir around 1900. 

[Source: Brent Archives] 

By the end of the century, Warner had died and the popularity of the tavern and its pleasure 

gardens declined, with Welsh Harp station closing in 1903. From 1914 the First World War 

saw nearby neighbourhoods such as Hendon and Kingsbury become centres for the new 

aircraft industry. The reservoir played its part in the war effort, and was used in 1917 for the 

test flight of a Handley Page seaplane, built in Cricklewood. From the summer of that year 

the fields between the reservoir and the top of Dollis Hill became a testing ground for tanks, 

with the world’s first amphibious tank trialled on the Welsh Harp just as the war ended in 

November 1918. Peace meant that 

manufacturers were left with spare 

aircraft, and one Hendon company used 

these to offer pleasure flights over the 

reservoir, priced at one guinea (£1–1s).  

An aerial view across the Welsh Harp, with  

the Cool Oak Lane embankment and bridge, 

and the fields of Dollis Hill beyond.  

[Source: “Flight” magazine, June 1919]  

 

The 1920’s saw the building of the North Circular Road just south of 

the reservoir, and the development of factories near Staples Corner 

and housing on the slopes of Dollis Hill. It also saw the reservoir 

being used for motor boat racing, while by 1930 its first sailing club 

had been set up and its banks attracted naturists. While this newly-

fashionable pastime was popular with its followers, it did not go down 

well with many local people, as can be seen from the cutting aside.  

From the “Hendon Times & Guardian”, 4 July 1930. 

[Source: Barnet Local Studies and Archives Centre – local newspaper microfilms]  

The reservoir was sometimes used by seaplanes for pleasure flights 

during the inter-war years, and during the Second World War it was 

rumoured that a seaplane was kept there to evacuate Churchill or 

other senior figures from the underground bunker on Dollis Hill in the 

event of a German invasion. The distinctive shape of the reservoir 

was a landmark for enemy bombers, and West Hendon suffered a 

terrible attack in February 1941 when a single experimental high 

explosive bomb flattened homes in three streets near the Silk Stream 

arm, killing around 80 people and making 1,500 homeless. At the 

other end of the Welsh Harp, two families were wiped out by a direct 
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hit on a pair of semi-detached houses in Birchen Close in February 1944, while a V2 rocket 

which hit Wykeham School in March 1945 killed 7 people and injured 40 in nearby houses. 

Both before and after the Second World War some infilling 

of the reservoir took place, particularly where the Edgware 

Road crossed both arms of it and near the Cool Oak Lane 

bridge. Some of this new land was developed, but some of 

it provided new habitats for wildlife, and in 1950 the Welsh 

Harp and the land around it was designated a Site of 

Special Scientific interest. 

The Cool Oak Lane bridge crosses the quiet Silk Stream arm  

of the Welsh Harp reservoir. 

[Photo by Philip Grant, 2011] 

Although this new status meant some restrictions on the 

reservoir’s recreational use, rowing and sailing remained popular 

activities, with the Willesden (later Brent) Regatta a popular event 

up until the early 1970’s. Willesden also hosted the European 

Women’s Rowing Championships here in August 1960 (see the 

article “Welsh Harp Women”). The various clubs using the 

reservoir came together around this time to form the Welsh Harp 

Sailing Association at Birchen Grove, and for 40 years from 1964 

there was a Youth Sailing Base at Cool Oak Lane. 

An advert for the Brent Regatta in 1966. 

[Source: Brent Archives – local newspaper microfilms] 

Recent decades have seen increasing pressure for development, 

and the Welsh Harp Conservation Group was set up in 1972 to look after the reservoir  

and areas around it. The Group has 

undertaken practical work to improve 

habitats, encouraging a wide variety of 

birds and other wildlife to visit. Their work 

has helped to highlight how valuable  

the reservoir is for both people and the 

natural environment, but there are still big 

challenges ahead, to stop inappropriate 

schemes such as the proposed waterside 

high-rise flats in West Hendon. 

Recreation and natural habitats side by side 

on the Welsh Harp, towards Kingsbury. 

[Photo by Philip Grant, 2011] 
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For more, beautifully illustrated, information about the history and wildlife of the Welsh Harp reservoir, 

I would recommend these books:  

Geoffrey Hewlett  -  “Welsh Harp Reservoir Through Time” (2011) 

Leo Batten and others – “Birds of the Brent Reservoir – the natural history of the Welsh Harp” (2002) 


